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“This is history at its best: meticulous research distilled into luminous prose and a gripping narrative. This is not only the finest book ever written on the Bay of Pigs fiasco but also one of the most balanced, keen-eyed surveys of the early days of the Kennedy administration. A page-turner that packs as much of a punch as the best of fiction thrillers, Rasenberger’s The Brilliant Disaster lays bare many a bleached bone, but, in the process, also provides readers with invaluable treasure: a clearer understanding of the relation between past, present, and future.”


    —CARLOS EIRE
National Book Award-winning author of Waiting for Snow in Havana


 


THE BRILLIANT DISASTER is a remarkably gripping account of America’s Bay of Pigs crisis, drawing on long-hidden CIA documents and delivering, as never before, the vivid truth—and consequences—of five pivotal days in April 1961.


At the heart of the Bay of Pigs crisis stood President John F. Kennedy, and journalist Jim Rasenberger traces what Kennedy knew, thought, and said as events unfolded. He examines whether Kennedy was manipulated by the CIA into approving a plan that would ultimately involve the American military. He also draws compelling portraits of the other figures who played key roles in the drama: Fidel Castro, who shortly after achieving power visited New York City and was cheered by thousands (just months before the United States began plotting his demise); Dwight Eisenhower, who originally ordered the secret program, then later disavowed it; Allen Dulles, the CIA director who may have told Kennedy about the plan before he was elected president (or so Richard Nixon suspected); and Richard Bissell, the famously brilliant “deus ex machina” who ran the operation for the CIA—and took the blame when it failed. Beyond the short-term fallout, Rasenberger demonstrates, the Bay of Pigs gave rise to further and greater woes, including the Cuban Missile Crisis, the Vietnam War, and even, possibly, the assassination of John Kennedy.


Written with elegant clarity and narrative verve, The Brilliant Disaster is the most complete account of this event to date, providing not only a fast-paced chronicle of the disaster but an analysis of how it occurred—a question as relevant today as then—and how it profoundly altered the course of modern American history.
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    JIM RASENBERGER’s previous book was America, 1908: The Dawn of Flight, the Race to the Pole, the Invention of the Model T, and the Making of a Modern Nation. He is also the author of High Steel: The Daring Men Who Built the World’s Greatest Skyline and has written for The New York Times, Vanity Fair, Smithsonian, and The Wilson Quarterly, among other publications. A native of Washington, D.C., he lives in New York City with his wife and sons.
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“Rasenberger goes deeper into the Bay of Pigs catastrophe than ever before and delivers the fullest story yet.… Thanks to Rasenberger’s skillful writing, The Brilliant Disaster reads more like a thriller than a history book, making it accessible to any reader with even the faintest interest in the topic.”


—The Daily Beast


 


“A balanced, engrossing account of the U.S.-backed invasion of Fidel Castro’s Cuba … Rasenberger succeeds admirably in offering a nuanced view of the entire botched operation.… Graceful, dramatic writing makes this well-worn story new again.”


—Kirkus Reviews (starred review)


 


“Rather than come down on one side or the other, Jim Rasenberger’s new book lets the facts speak for themselves.… Its context is richly detailed, its tempo novelistic. Forthright and accessible, it delineates a convoluted chain of events leading to humiliation and tragedy.”


—The Miami Herald


 


“An enthralling and illuminating history of the bloody mess that unfolded on the beaches of Cuba’s Bay of Pigs.”


—The Dallas Morning News


 


“This gripping investigation relives the events as they unfolded on a day-to-day and hour-by-hour basis. Especially absorbing is the harrowing story of 1,113 prisoners of the Cuban government (others had already been executed) and the effort to win their release.… [An] important and engrossing work.”


—Library Journal (starred review) 


 


“This is great history, the anecdotal type chock-full of details about larger-than-life historical figures brought down to human size.”


—The Buffalo News


 


“Jim Rasenberger delivers a well-organized and reported history of the Bay of Pigs as well as a concise evaluation of its consequences. Drawing on recently declassified government documents as well as first-person accounts of the invasion, he presents a sober, comprehensive account sharpened by the fifty-year-old lens of retrospection.”


—Pittsburgh Post-Gazette


 


“A vivid and fleet-footed account.”


—Washingtonian magazine


 


“Rasenberger provides an outstanding chronological day-by-day, nearly minute-by-minute, account of the operation that was first planned during the Eisenhower administration and inherited by JFK.… In the end, Rasenberger makes the case for the large impact that the Bay of Pigs had on historic events that followed, including the Cuban Missile Crisis, the building of the Berlin Wall, the involvement in Vietnam, and the election of President Nixon and Watergate, among others.”


—Idaho Statesman


 


“A brilliant book … Students of history too young to remember the events of that April in 1961 will appreciate the thoroughness. For those who lived through that chilling time, it is a page-turner. The details, many of them unknown until now, become as exciting as the story itself. The body of work is exhaustive but the writing seems effortless.”


—Charleston News Alternative


 


“This is an excellent book.… Rasenberger has crafted a masterpiece, well written, fast moving, and easy to read.”


—InCity Times (Worcester)


 


“A brilliant analysis … Rasenberger has an excellent eye for the interesting detail and the memorable quote.”


—Citrus County Chronicle


 


“Fifty years after the Bay of Pigs disaster, Jim Rasenberger does a terrific job of documenting the faults of all parties engaged in the operation.… Unlike some Bay of Pigs accounts, this retelling, much to the author’s credit, spreads the blame around.”


—Studies in Intelligence


 


“A gripping narrative … Rasenberger provides interesting details about the aftermath, including the Christmas-time release of the captured fighters several years later, his attorney father’s role in that episode, and sums up how the Bay of Pigs continued to reverberate from the Cuban Missile Crisis to Watergate.”


—Publishers Weekly


 


“What I love about Jim Rasenberger’s richly detailed, startlingly revisionist account of the Bay of Pigs invasion is his sheer storytelling ability, the wonderful, steady march of plot and counterplot, of heroes and foils. His tale is chock-full of larger-than-life characters—from JFK to Castro, mafia bosses, and the steely-eyed, hypersmart men of the New Frontier. The Brilliant Disaster is what history ought to be: sharply drawn and with a constant eye on the big picture.”


—S. C. Gwynne, author of Empire of the Summer Moon


 


“If you like Mad Men, spy novels, and lucid writing, you’ll love The Brilliant Disaster. If you’re new to any of these, consider Jim Rasenberger your guide to one of the most fascinating and dramatic episodes of the Cold War, post-Korea and pre-Vietnam. He has written an amazing account that speeds along, one dramatic cloak-and-dagger scene after another, all judiciously reported. The people in his book come to life, vividly—you hear them, see them, and understand them, although you may not agree with them. This is highly entertaining and engrossing ­history.”


—Doug Stanton, author of Horse Soldiers
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INTRODUCTION



“The Bay of Pigs Thing”


 


BACK IN THE first half of the twentieth century, America was a good and determined nation led by competent men and defended by an indomitable military—that, anyway, was a plausible view for Americans to hold fifty years ago. The First World War, then the Second World War, asserted and confirmed America’s place of might and right in the world. Even in the decade after the Second World War, as a new conflict in Korea suggested there were limits to what the United States might accomplish abroad, it would have been a cynical American who doubted he or she lived in a powerful nation engaged in worthy exploits.


And then came the Bay of Pigs.


In the early hours of April 17, 1961, some fourteen hundred men, most of them Cuban exiles, attempted to invade their homeland and overthrow Fidel Castro. The invasion at the Bahía de Cochinos—the Bay of Pigs—quickly unraveled. Three days after landing, the exile force was routed and sent fleeing to the sea or the swamps, where the survivors were soon captured by Castro’s army. Despite the Kennedy administration’s initial insistence that the United States had nothing to do with the invasion, the world immediately understood that the entire operation had been organized and funded by the U.S. government. The invaders had been trained by CIA officers and supplied with American equipment, and the plan had been approved by the Joint Chiefs of Staff and the president of the United States. In short, the Bay of Pigs had been a U.S. operation, and its failure—“a perfect failure,” historian Theodore Draper called it—was a distinctly American embarrassment. Bad enough the government had been caught bullying and prevaricating; much worse, the United States had allowed itself to be humiliated by a nation of 7 million inhabitants (compared to the United States’ 180 million) and smaller than the state of Pennsylvania. The greatest American defeat since the War of 1812, one American general called it. Others were less generous. Everyone agreed on this: it was a mistake Americans would never repeat and a lesson they would never forget.


They were wrong on both counts.


Mention the Bay of Pigs to a college-educated adult American under the age of, say, fifty and you are likely to be met by tentative nods of recognition. The incident still rings discordant bells somewhere in the back of our national memory—something to do with Cuba, with Kennedy, with disaster. That phantasmagorical phrase alone—Bay of Pigs—is hard to forget, evoking images of bobbing swine in a bloodred sea (or at least it did in my mind when I first heard it). But what exactly happened at the Bay of Pigs? Many of us are no longer certain, including some of us who probably ought to be. At about the time I began thinking about this book, Dana Perino, the White House press secretary for President George W. Bush, good-naturedly confessed on a radio program that she confused “the Bay of Pigs thing” (April 1961) with the Cuban Missile Crisis (October 1962). Given that Ms. Perino was born a decade after these events, her uncertainty was understandable. But coming from the woman representing the president who launched the invasion of Iraq in 2003—an exercise that repeated some of the very same mistakes made in Cuba in 1961—it also was unsettling. Presumably, somebody in the Bush White House considered the history of the Bay of Pigs before sending Colin Powell to the Security Council of the United Nations (an episode, as we shall see, bearing striking similarities to Adlai Stevenson’s appearance before that same body in April 1961) or ordering a minimal force to conquer a supposedly welcoming foreign land.


Then again, if history teaches us any lesson, it is that we do not learn the lessons of history very well. Almost as soon as the mistakes of the Bay of Pigs were cataloged and analyzed by various investigative bodies, America began committing them again, not only in Cuba, but elsewhere in Latin America, in Southeast Asia, in the Middle East, in Africa. By one count, the United States has forcibly intervened, covertly or overtly, in no fewer than twenty-four foreign countries since 1961, not including our more recent twenty-first-century entanglements in Iraq and Afghanistan. Some of these have arguably produced long-term benefits for the United States. Most clearly have not.


The surfeit of interventions gives rise to a fair question: considering all that has occurred since 1961, why should the Bay of Pigs still demand our attention? Next to Vietnam and Iraq, among others, the Bay of Pigs may seem a bump in the road fading mercifully in the rearview mirror. The entire event lasted a mere five days and cost the United States roughly $46 million, less than the average budget of a Hollywood movie these days. One hundred and fourteen men were killed on the American side, and only a handful of these casualties were U.S. citizens. Add to this the fact that America was embarrassed by the Bay of Pigs and the tale has everything to recommend it for oblivion.


Even if we would forget the Bay of Pigs, though, it will not forget us. There among the mangrove swamps and the coral-jeweled waters, some part of the American story ended and a new one began. Like a well-crafted prologue, the Bay of Pigs sounded the themes, foreshadowed the conflicts, and laid the groundwork for the decades to follow. And what followed was, in no small measure, a consequence of the events in Cuba in 1961. It would be facile to credit the 1960s to a single failed invasion—many currents combined to produce that tsunami—but the Bay of Pigs dragged America into the new decade and stalked it for years to come. Three of the major American cataclysms of the ’60s and early ’70s—John Kennedy’s assassination, the Vietnam War, and Watergate—were related by concatenation to the Bay of Pigs. No fewer than four presidents were touched by it, from Dwight Eisenhower, who first approved the “Program of Covert Action” against Castro, to Richard Nixon and the six infamous justice-obstructing words he uttered in 1972: “the whole Bay of Pigs thing.”


 


    MY TELLING OF the Bay of Pigs thing will certainly not be the first. On the contrary, thousands of pages of official reports, journalism, memoir, and scholarship have been devoted to the invasion, including at least two exceptional books: Haynes Johnson’s emotionally charged account published in 1964 and Peter Wyden’s deeply reported account from 1979. This book owes a debt to both of those, and to many others, as well as to thousands of pages of once-classified documents that have become available over the past fifteen years, thanks in part to the efforts of the National Security Archives, an organization affiliated with George Washington University that seeks to declassify and publish government files. These newer sources, including a CIA inspector general’s report, written shortly after the invasion and hidden away in a vault for decades, and a once-secret CIA history compiled in the 1970s, add depth and clarity to our understanding of the event and of the men who planned it and took part in it.


If what follows is not quite a story never told, it may be, even for those well acquainted with the event—especially those, perhaps—a different story than the one readers thought they knew. Because the Bay of Pigs was so cataclysmic and personally anguishing to so many involved, and because it raised questions about core American values, its postmortems have tended to be of the finger-pointing, ax-grinding, high-dudgeon variety. This includes personal memoirs and reminiscences, but also serious and measured works such as Johnson’s and Wyden’s, both of which were colored by the circumstances under which they were written. Johnson’s book, published just a few years after the invasion, was authored with heavy input from leaders of the Cuban exile brigade and is raw with their pain and resentment. Wyden’s book was written in the late 1970s, following Watergate and an inflammatory Senate investigation into CIA-sponsored assassinations (the so-called Church Committee), when national outrage for government subterfuge was at a high point and esteem for the CIA hit new lows. The book announces its bias on the very first page, when Wyden describes the CIA as “acting out of control” during the Bay of Pigs. Many other books, articles, and interviews have added to the riot of perspective: those by Kennedy partisans who damn the CIA; those by CIA participants who damn Kennedy; those by Cuban exiles who damn both, and Castro, too; and those by Cuban nationals who hail the events of 1961 as a great defeat of American imperialism and a defining episode in the hagiography of Fidel Castro.


With the possible exception of Castro, no one came out of the Cuban venture smelling sweet, but over time the CIA came to assume the rankest odor of all. Starting with the publication of two important memoirs by senior Kennedy aides in the fall of 1965—Arthur M. Schlesinger’s A Thousand Days and Theodore Sorensen’s Kennedy—a steady stream of books championed the view that John Kennedy was a victim in the Bay of Pigs, and especially a victim of the CIA’s arrogance and malfeasance. Several recently published books that treat the Bay of Pigs suggest this view has won out and is now conventional wisdom. One recent bestseller, David Talbot’s Brothers: The Hidden History of the Kennedy Years (2007), describes a defiant CIA driven by “cynical calculation” while engaged in an effort to “sandbag” President Kennedy with the Bay of Pigs. Another, Tim Weiner’s history of the CIA, Legacy of Ashes (2007), portrays an agency that managed to combine duplicity with dereliction, somehow running circles around Kennedy and his advisers even as it tripped over its own two feet.


The more complicated truth about the Bay of Pigs is that it was not ginned up by a nefarious band of agents in the bowels of the CIA, but rather produced by two administrations, encouraged by countless informed legislators, and approved by numerous men of high rank and intelligence, even brilliance, who either did know, or should have known, what they were agreeing to. As for why they did this—“How could I have been so stupid?” is how Kennedy phrased the question—the answer is that all of them, from the presidents to the Central Intelligence Agency, from the Pentagon to the State Department, were operating under conditions that made the venture almost impossible to resist. At a time when Americans were nearly hysterical about the spread of communism, they simply could not abide Castro. He had to go. And the CIA, in 1960, was the tool Eisenhower, then Kennedy, intended to use to speed him on his way.


Unsettling as it may be to conjure a “rogue elephant,” as the CIA was often described after the Bay of Pigs, making and executing lethal and boneheaded foreign policy on its own, more troubling may be the possibility that the Bay of Pigs—or any number of subsequent disasters abroad—was driven by irrational forces and fears in the broad American public, and that its pursuit and failure reflected not one man’s or one group’s moral or intellectual failings, but the limits of a democratic government’s ability to respond sensibly to frightening circumstances. By the time the Bay of Pigs occurred, it almost was rational—a logical conclusion arrived at from a set of premises that were, in 1961, practically beyond question. Clearly the CIA chose the wrong way to go about unseating Castro, but really, is there any good way to overthrow the government of a sovereign nation?


My goal in these pages is not to defend the CIA, or anyone else, but to treat the participants with more empathy than prejudice, the better to understand their motives. As a litany of misdeeds, the Bay of Pigs is dark comedy; only when we consider it in the full context of its time does it reveal itself, instead, as Greek tragedy. Not all participants in the affair behaved well, but of the many extraordinary facts about the Bay of Pigs, the most surprising may be that it was the work of mostly decent and intelligent people trying their best to perform what they considered to be the necessary emergency procedure of excising Fidel Castro. With a few notable exceptions—Senator William Fulbright was one—it never occurred to any of them that America could tolerate Fidel Castro’s reign. Certainly it never occurred to them that Castro’s reign would outlast the administrations of ten U.S. presidents.


 


IN SOME WAYS, this is a tale from the distant past. Other than the frozen state of relations between the United States and Cuba, virtually unchanged since 1961, we live in a world that is very different from the one that produced the Bay of Pigs. The Cold War is over; the War on Terror has taken its place as our national bête noire. Fidel Castro, in retrospect, seems a benign threat next to the likes of Osama bin Laden. But America is still driven by the same conflicting motives and urgencies that landed the country at the Bay of Pigs fifty years ago. On the one hand, we are a people convinced of our own righteousness, power, and genius—a conviction that compels us to cure what ails the world. On the other hand, we are stalked by deep insecurities: our way of life is in constant jeopardy; our enemies are implacable and closing in. This paradox of American psychology was apparent well before the Bay of Pigs—Fidel Castro pointed it out to Richard Nixon in 1959, as we will see in this book’s first chapter—but compounding it after 1961 were new concerns about the limits of American power, not to mention the limits of American competence and morality. The days of the “splendid little war,” as Ambassador John Hays famously called the United States’ military venture in Cuba in 1898 (during the Spanish-American War), are long gone now. Instead, we get complicated, tormented affairs that never seem to end. In this respect, at least, the Kennedy administration earned this book’s otherwise oxymoronic title, and without irony: their disaster was brilliantly brief. It could have been far worse, as a number of very smart people noted afterward. What does it tell us that some of those same smart people—“the best and the brightest,” author David Halberstam indelibly tagged them—later engineered America’s descent into Vietnam? Irony never strays far from this tale.


We are still trying to come up with the solution to the conundrum that gave rise to the Bay of Pigs: how to use American power to make the world to our liking, but do so in a manner that holds true to the values we espouse. One piece of evidence that we have not quite figured this out can be found, coincidentally, on the eastern tip of Cuba, where the United States still holds prisoners from the War on Terror at Guantánamo. What to do about this and similar matters remains the problem of our current president, Barack Obama, born in August 1961, a few months after the Bay of Pigs.


As it happens, my own life began just after the Bay of Pigs and was soon touched by it, albeit obliquely. In December 1962—when I was a few months old—my father was briefly but significantly involved in the episode’s dramatic finale. A young and politically involved lawyer at the time (he’d done advance work for John Kennedy), he was recruited to join Robert Kennedy’s pre-Christmas effort to bring home more than a thousand men who had been taken prisoner by Fidel Castro during the Bay of Pigs. For an intense few weeks leading up to Christmas 1962, my father and several other private attorneys, as well as men from the attorney general’s office such as Louis Oberdorfer and Nicholas Katzenbach, virtually lived at the Justice Department as they worked to secure the prisoners’ release. My father’s role was small, and came only near the end. I mention him here to point out that I grew up more attuned than most to the Bay of Pigs fiasco, and yet I can’t say my understanding of it was at all clear. I suspect that to most people around my age, the Bay of Pigs is an incident of the dim, dark past, like a childhood memory of something not meant for children’s eyes. Meanwhile, for older Americans—those of my father’s generation—it’s a memory that is fading.


Not so in Cuba, as I learned when I visited the island in the spring of 2010, on the invasion’s forty-ninth anniversary. To Cubans, the Bay of Pigs episode is known simply as “Girón,” after the beach where the invasion began and ended, and the Cuban victory there is one of the founding mythologies of modern Cuba. Schoolchildren learn of it when they are young and are never allowed to forget. Every April, billboards throughout Havana herald it anew, and Playa Girón becomes a kind of mecca for invasion tourists and government officials. Passing a giant billboard that announces Girón as the site of the PRIMERA DERROTA DEL IMPERIALISMO YANQUI EN AMERICA LATINA (First Defeat of Yankee Imperialism in Latin America), busloads of schoolchildren and military personnel arrive at the small seaside hamlet. They visit the battle museum, poke into the shops, and walk down to the palm-shaded beach where the “mercenaries” first landed. Local laborers slap a fresh coat of white paint onto the base of the telephone poles and line the main road into town with palm fronds, sprucing up for the dignitaries who will arrive from Havana on April 19 and stand on a platform in front of the Hotel Playa Girón to declare the victory all over again.


Meanwhile, at the western end of the beach where the invasion occurred, two military sentries stand atop an old shack that has been turned into a military post. Day and night, they look out to sea with high-powered optical equipment, searching, waiting, as if expecting, any moment, an invasion force to arrive all over again.





PROLOGUE



“Balls Were in the Air”


Saturday, April 15, 1961
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Washington, D.C., 3:28 A.M.


 


     


THE NEWS IN the first dark hours of the first day was mostly good. Or so it appeared in the early editions of the morning papers, already composed and printed long before the sun began to rise on the morning of April 15, 1961. Soon the papers would be sliding into mailboxes or sailing across front lawns, carrying headlines that told of an America prosperous and resurgent. The economy was bouncing back from a recession that had weighed upon the last months of the Eisenhower administration. Industrial production, housing starts, the stock market, incomes—all were rising. “Let’s get America moving again,” John Kennedy had exhorted in one of his catchier campaign slogans. Now he was president, and he was making good on his words.


Kennedy had been in office for only three months as of mid-April, but many Wall Streeters already gave him credit for the lift in the economy. “By one of those curious turns peculiar to public opinion, the New Frontier idea, after being viewed with considerable skepticism last summer, seems suddenly to have caught hold,” a stock analyst named Bradbury K. Thurlow had mused in the New York Times the previous week. Americans seemed to agree. John Kennedy’s approval rating was 73 percent in the latest Gallup poll. His personal pollster, Lou Harris, charted him at an astonishing 92 percent.


Though Mr. Thurlow did not say so in his editorial, Kennedy’s popularity owed less to his new policies—not so different, really, from his predecessor’s—than to the new style of leadership he brought to the White House. Chiefly, this style was defined by vigor and action. The elderly President Eisenhower had run a “passive, do-nothing” administration, according to one New Frontiersman; Kennedy’s was going to be an “active, do-something” administration. “The air had been stale and oppressive,” wrote another Kennedy aide, Arthur M. Schlesinger Jr.; “now fresh winds were blowing.”


The new president was young, cool, handsome, and rich. He was surrounded by a staff of even younger acolytes who put aside soaring careers at America’s top universities and corporations to serve him. He had a fetching and devoted wife in Jacqueline; an adorable three-year-old daughter, Caroline; and a new baby son. The previous afternoon, Friday, April 14, one of the first warm and sunny days of spring, as flowers bloomed in the Rose Garden, tourists gazing through the White House fence had been treated to the sight of Jacqueline playing tennis on the White House court. Little Caroline was observed frolicking nearby. An Ohio woman told a reporter she’d seen the president himself out on the lawn “swinging golf balls.”


“He wasn’t swinging golf balls,” her husband corrected her. “He was swinging a golf club.”


“I don’t know what he was swinging,” replied the woman, “but balls were in the air.”


Balls were indeed in the air that spring, and the president was juggling them, by most accounts, deftly. Since coming into office in January, he’d showered Congress with new bills and messages, delivered scores of speeches, and stood for weekly live televised press conferences. His advisers and cabinet officers were a breed of men, wrote Arthur Schlesinger, who “carried a thrust of action and purpose wherever they went.” The deadline for everything, said Arthur Goldberg, Kennedy’s secretary of labor, “is the day before yesterday.” The president himself read fast, more than a thousand words a minute, according to press accounts, and he read everything. “I never heard of a president who wanted to know so much,” said Charles Bohlen, a veteran American diplomat.


In addition to being ambitious, impatient, and voracious, Kennedy and his fellow New Frontiersmen were aggressive and tough. They possessed—that word again—balls, as in grit, aggression, testicular fortitude. More specifically, in the context of 1961, it meant that these were men, unlike some of their more appeasement-oriented fellow Democrats (read former presidential candidate Adlai Stevenson), who could be trusted to stand up to the enemy. And the enemy, in 1961, meant Communists.


Communists were the dark cloud Americans saw when they gazed behind the silver lining: the mushroom-shaped thunderhead looming over the backyard barbecue. Such was the strangeness of life in the spring of 1961. Never had Americans known such plenty; never had they known such dread. They lived in a newfound land of freshly sprung suburbs, of high-finned, chrome-trimmed automobiles, of push-button washing machines and electric stoves and aerodynamically shaped furniture. In the morning, they breakfasted in brightly colored, appliance-accessorized kitchens; evenings, they relaxed in Naugahyde recliners and bathed in the contemporary luminescence of pole lamps and television sets. They enjoyed more leisure time and more disposable income than any generation in history. They were the first generation of Americans to worry less about the necessities of life and more about “lifestyle,” a word that debuted in Webster’s Third New International Dictionary that year.


But the pleasures of Americans’ new lifestyle were curtailed by other commonly used words and phrases of 1961, such as “missile gap,” “annihilation,” and “Soviet-Sino conspiracy.” Hardly a day passed without newspapers reminding them that the Soviets were pressing for control of West Berlin, that Laos and Vietnam were falling into the clutches of the Chinese, that Reds were on the march across the globe, including, incredibly, on the island of Cuba, ninety miles off the cost of Florida—a mere “eight jet minutes” away, as Kennedy had so often pointed out in campaign speeches. And now the Communists had a foothold in outer space, too. Three days earlier—April 12, 1961—a cosmonaut named Yuri Gagarin had become the first man to orbit Earth in a spacecraft. Another win in the Soviets’ column; another chance for Nikita Khrushchev to gloat: “Let the capitalist countries try to catch up with our country!”


This was exactly the kind of challenge the New Frontier was prepared to meet. One of the headlines in the New York Times that Saturday morning confirmed Kennedy’s determination: MAN-ON-MOON AIM CUT YEAR BY U.S. Just three days after congratulating Khrushchev for the “technical achievement” of Yuri Gagarin’s flight (the word choice seemed to imply that grander achievements lay beyond the Soviets’ grasp), President Kennedy was ordering NASA to speed up plans to put a man on the moon. “What can we do?” Kennedy demanded of his staff. “Are we working twenty-four hours a day? Can we go around the moon before them?”


John Kennedy had put down a marker for prodigious achievement many months earlier while campaigning for the presidency. In speeches, he referred to Franklin D. Roosevelt’s much-heralded first hundred days in office and proposed to move even faster with the New Frontier than Roosevelt had with the New Deal. “[A] President’s first 90 days,” he told an audience back in September, “are his most important.”


For the moment, at 3:28 that Saturday morning, the windows of the White House were dark, the midnight oil doused. The sky over Washington was moonless and cloud-patched. In a few hours, John F. Kennedy would rise from bed and begin his eighty-fifth day as president.


 


Puerto Cabezas, 2:28 A.M. (3:28 EST)


AS JOHN KENNEDY enjoyed his last good night of sleep for days to come, the operation to overthrow Fidel Castro was launched eighteen hundred miles southwest of Washington, D.C., at a place called Happy Valley. This was the code name the Central Intelligence Agency had assigned to Puerto Cabezas, Nicaragua, a hardscrabble, dirt-road coastal village wedged between the Caribbean Sea and the Central American jungle. The time was just before 2:30 A.M. in Nicaragua, but Happy Valley was loud and ablaze.


Under the glow of floodlights, eight B-26 Douglas Invaders lined the end of the landing strip. The planes were Second World War relics that had been acquired from a U.S. Air Force “boneyard” near Tucson, Arizona, then repaired, refurbished, and repainted to resemble the B-26s in Fidel Castro’s air force, right down to the FAR (Fuerza Aérea Revolucionaria) markings on their fuselages and tails. The markings were a ruse, meant to sow confusion when the planes attacked Castro’s air force, his real air force, later in the morning.


The planes’ engines rasped and roared as ground crews made final checks and preparations for flight. In the distance, beyond the bubble of artificial light, the dark shapes of twelve-man army tents hunkered under the jungle canopy. Sturdier structures rose closer to the edge of the runway: an airport control tower; a mess hall; a chapel; a command center surrounded by barbed wire. One structure advertised itself with a sign over the door: BAR. Inside, men not otherwise occupied slaked their thirsts and passed empty hours drinking beer, courtesy of the CIA.


No amount of beer could dull the discomforts the men had been enduring at Happy Valley these past few weeks. In addition to being oppressively hot and damp, this corner of the Central American tropics was infested with scorpions, spiders, and venomous snakes. The shower was a horizontal pipe that ran over a wooden platform and emitted a tepid trickle. The latrine was a lime-coated trench covered by a wooden plank. A trip to either shower or latrine could be hair-raising, since scorpions tended to lurk in both. One man had already been airlifted back to Florida with a scorpion bite on his backside, a development that had done nothing to encourage personal hygiene or digestive regularity at Happy Valley.


Puerto Cabezas may have lacked domestic amenities, but as a launch-pad for an invasion of Cuba it was well equipped. To begin, there was the 6,200-foot-long concrete landing strip, installed by Americans during the Second World War to defend the Panama Canal. The location of the strip, about 550 miles south of Havana, put it far enough from the target to avoid raising obvious suspicions, but within range (if only just) of a B-26 outfitted with auxiliary fuel tanks. Moreover, the 1,500-foot wooden pier reaching out into the Caribbean from the center of town was perfectly suited to accommodate a small armada of ships—just the sort of armada that had departed from Puerto Cabezas ten hours earlier.


Over the previous three days, infantrymen of the Cuban Expeditionary Force—Brigade 2506, as the men called themselves—had flown in aboard C-54 cargo planes from their training camps on the far side of Central America, in Guatemala. Arriving in groups of fifty or so, they had filed to the railway cattle cars that transported them to town, then marched down the long pier to their appointed ships. They made a motley procession, these men of the brigade. Some were barely beyond boyhood, others well advanced into middle age. Some marched with the carriage of trained professional soldiers, others stumbled to keep up. Most of the soldiers were dark-haired and spoke Spanish, but moving among them were men with Nordic features, squinty eyes, twangy American accents, and all-American swagger. The brigade soldiers wore crisp new uniforms but the half dozen ships they boarded were vintage freight vessels so tarnished by rust they quickly turned the men’s uniforms the color of dried blood.


Just before the ships pulled away, as the brigademen stood at the railings of their ships waving the colored scarves of their battalions, a spooky apparition had suddenly appeared in the dusk. Luis Somoza, dictator of Nicaragua and ally of the United States, stood on the pier, surrounded by gunmen. Wearing a white suit and a layer of white cosmetic powder on his face, he came to wish them bon voyage. “Bring me a couple hairs from Castro’s beard,” Somoza called out. Then the dictator had vanished, and the ships of the Cuban Expeditionary Force vanished, too, steaming into the evening.


 


NOW IT WAS a new day, and the first B-26, captained by a handsome and taciturn thirty-eight-year-old former Cubana Airlines pilot named Gustavo Ponzoa, was starting down the runway. Other than the bombing raid a few hours hence, the next few moments would be the most critical of Ponzoa’s flight. His plane was loaded thousands of pounds beyond its 35,000-pound limit. In addition to two 500-pound bombs and ten 250-pound fragmentation bombs, it carried eight wing-mounted rockets and eight nose-mounted .50-caliber machine guns. Auxiliary fuel tanks added many hundreds more pounds. These tanks would extend the range of the plane and give it more breathing room over Cuba. But first the plane had to get airborne.


The B-26 accelerated slowly, reluctantly lifting just at the end of the runway and nearly brushing the trees below. The moment the plane was up, Ponzoa extinguished the wing lights. Then another plane followed. And another, gathering speed, rising, and quickly melting into the darkness.


The men left behind at Happy Valley stood near the runway in the dark and counted the departing planes of the so-called Cuban Liberation Air Force; the total came to eight. The brigade’s B-26 fleet was sixteen planes, so just half the planes had taken off. “Is that all?” one of the American pilots, Albert C. Persons, asked out loud when the last plane was gone. Is that all? It’s a question that would haunt the participants of the invasion, Cubans and Americans alike, for years to come. For the men who were there that night in Happy Valley, it was the first inkling that something was not right with the operation to which they’d committed months of their lives and would, in some cases, soon sacrifice their lives entirely.


 



Washington, D.C., 4:00 A.M.


ACROSS THE MALL from the White House, the cherry trees were in blossom along the edge of the Tidal Basin, their buds shivering in a cool breeze. Nearby, at the base of the Lincoln Memorial, rose a plain two-story wooden building, one of several remaining “tempos” that had been thrown up on the Mall during the Second World War and now served as offices for the Central Intelligence Agency. Known among CIA officers as Quarters Eye, the building appeared as quiet and dark as everything around it. Only deep inside, behind the blackened windows, beyond the locked doors controlled by keypad codes, was there evidence of action.


In the Hollywood version, men would be sprinting down corridors, grabbing telephones, and barking orders. Reality was more static: a room festooned with laminated maps of Cuba; bleary-eyed men nursing cups of coffee; the ambient clack of a teletype machine. It was a tableau short on motion, perhaps, but roiling with tension nonetheless. The men inside Quarters Eye had been working toward this moment for months, twelve to sixteen hours a day. They had been spending nights here, resting on makeshift cots when exhaustion overcame them. They had run gauntlets, jumped through hoops, and worried themselves sick between bursts of hope. Now, for a few hours, there was little to do but sit back and wait for the attack to begin.
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Washington, D.C., April 1959


WHEN, REALLY, did it begin? Was it the day in 1956 Fidel Castro landed on the coast of Cuba with a small band of followers to begin his quixotic campaign against the dictator Fulgencio Batista? Was it in the early-morning hours of January 1, 1959, when Batista, dressed in his New Year’s Eve tuxedo, piled cash and family members into an airplane and fled to the Dominican Republic, leaving the country in Castro’s hands? Was it, rather, fourteen months later, March 17, 1960, the day President Eisenhower approved the CIA’s “Program of Covert Action” to unseat Castro?


Or did the trouble between Cuba and the United States reach much deeper into the past, to Teddy Roosevelt’s triumph at San Juan Hill, to the U.S. victory in the Spanish-American War and the succeeding decades of American intervention in Cuban affairs?


In fact, all of these episodes, and many more, were stations on the way to the U.S.-backed invasion of Cuba. Easier than narrowing the origins of the conflict is identifying the moment when it might have been avoided: when some measure of amity between Cuba and America still seemed possible; when Fidel Castro still appeared to many Americans to be the sort of man they could live with, accommodate, and even, perhaps, admire.


Such a moment arrived two years before the first bombs fell on Cuba—two years, in fact, to the day. Dwight Eisenhower was beginning his seventh year as president. Richard Nixon was vice president and the presumptive Republican nominee for the 1960 presidential election. John Kennedy was the junior senator from Massachusetts, still mulling a run at the Democratic presidential nomination. And Fidel Castro, three and a half months after conquering Cuba, was celebrating his triumph with a visit to America. His entry into U.S. airspace was a kind of invasion in its own right—a charm offensive. He came bearing a hundred cases of rum, countless boxes of Cuban cigars, and a warm abrazo for every man, woman, and child he met.


Castro landed on the evening of April 15, 1959, at Washington, D.C.’s National Airport. The time was two minutes after nine and Castro, typically, was two hours behind schedule, but this did nothing to dampen the enthusiasm of the fifteen hundred admirers awaiting him near the tarmac. “Viva Castro!” the crowd erupted as the door of the Cubana Airlines turboprop swung open and the man himself stepped out. “Viva Castro!”


He looked every bit the legendary guerrilla as he stood atop the airplane ramp, bathed in camera lights and the roar of the crowd. He was a large man, more than six feet tall, clad in rumpled green fatigues and high black boots, the uniform he and his cadre had worn through the battles of the Sierra. He carried an army kit on one shoulder, and an empty canvas pistol holster dangled from his belt. And the beard, of course: that famous beard Castro and his fellow barbudos had cultivated while fighting Batista’s troops in the wilds of Cuba. Barbudos translated as “bearded ones” but sounded like “barbarians,” a suitable cognate for the “bearded monster,” as one U.S. senator had already taken to calling Castro.


“Viva Castro!”


As the shouts rang up from the tarmac, Castro descended, followed by an avalanche of ministers, businessmen, bodyguards, and others whose roles were more difficult to define. The State Department had been trying to get a fix on Castro’s entourage for weeks, but the mercurial Cubans kept coming back with new numbers—thirty-five, then seventy, multiplying, at last, to ninety-four. For the State Department, the changing number was just another sign of the chaos that seemed to percolate around Castro wherever he went, as if he were making it up on the spot, dreaming it as it happened—it being the revolution, the new Cuba, this maddening creation called Fidel.


Castro was making his first appearance in the United States since riding into Havana at the start of the year, but the thirty-two-year-old rebel leader was no stranger to America. Newspapers and magazines had been tracking his exploits for years. The general outlines of his biography were familiar: the privileged but combative boyhood as the illegitimate son of a wealthy landowner in eastern Cuba; the student years at Havana University, where he earned both a law degree (hence the honorific “Doctor” often attached to his name) and, more important, a devoted following in the bloody gangsterismo political scene of 1940s Havana. There had been a short-lived marriage in 1948, when he took a break from school and politics to travel with his new bride to America for an extended honeymoon. Given what came later, the most remarkable fact about this sojourn was how comfortably Castro had fit into the belly of the imperialist beast, studying English in New York City and enjoying the fruits of capitalism (including a new Lincoln) as much as any other red-blooded young man in postwar New York. Nonetheless, he had returned to Cuba after three months and resumed his life as a revolutionary.


It was in the summer of 1953 that Castro had first come to the attention of the American press. On July 26 of that year he led an attack on an army barracks in Santiago de Cuba. The attack failed miserably but made Castro a hero in Cuba. Castro was sentenced to fifteen years in prison. Batista, in a gesture of goodwill unbecoming of a ruthless dictator, released him after just two. Castro went into exile in Mexico City, befriended a young Argentinean doctor named Ernesto “Che” Guevara, and raised funds to support a new attack on Cuba. In December 1956, in the company of Guevara, his brother Raúl Castro, and seventy-nine other men, Castro sailed across the Gulf of Mexico and through the Yucatán Strait to mount another quixotic attack on Batista’s forces. Nearly all the rebels were killed within days of landing, including Fidel Castro, according to Batista’s government. And so the world believed until Herbert Matthews, a writer for the New York Times, managed to track Castro down in the Sierra Maestra, where he found the rebel leader hiding among the peasants like a modern-day Robin Hood, not only alive but apparently prospering and gathering forces. Matthews’s articles from the Sierra Maestra made Castro into a worldwide legend, and the legend only grew as Castro continued to survive and pile up victories. When, at last, Batista fled Havana on New Year’s Day, many Americans were as thrilled as the exultant Cuban masses. An evil man had been deposed; a new man, young and idealistic and charismatic, had won the hearts and minds of much of the world.


And now here he was in the flesh, stepping onto the tarmac into a crowd of U.S. officials.


“Viva Castro!”


Before Castro could shake hands with Roy Rubottom, the State Department official there to greet him, a hundred or so fans suddenly rushed through a ring of police. Castro received the swarm of adulation with handshakes and hugs, then wended his way to a thicket of microphones. Generally, microphones inspired him to long and rambling orations. Not tonight. His voice was hoarse and soft, and surprisingly high-pitched for so large a man.


“I have come here to speak to the people of the United States,” he began in halting English. “I hope the people of the United States will understand better the people of Cuba, and I hope to understand better the people of the United States.”


He turned for the limousine parked on the tarmac, then strode right past it to a large crowd shouting from the other side of a chain-link fence. His security detail, including local police officers and forty agents from the State Department’s Division of Physical Security, scrambled to keep up. The State Department had already fielded numerous threats against Castro and had every reason to worry an assassin might try to gun him down. But the greatest danger to Castro, evidently, was going to be Castro himself. “He must be crazy,” one of the guards observed as Castro flung himself at the crowd.


 


CRAZY WAS A common assessment of Fidel Castro in certain quarters of the American government. Few Americans were sorry to see Batista go, and the United States had quickly recognized the new regime. But some officials, such as Roy Rubottom, the assistant secretary of state Castro left standing on the tarmac, were already expressing grave doubts about the new prime minister. Both CIA intelligence and firsthand reports from Cuba suggested that Castro was erratic, tyrannical, and bloodthirsty. Since arriving in Havana at the start of the year to take the reins of government, Castro had either ordered or allowed the executions of more than five hundred Batista supporters. Between executions, he’d delivered stupendous diatribes, some lasting as long as three or four hours and many of them laced with anti-American sentiments. American conservatives such as Senator Barry Goldwater were particularly alarmed by the tone of the new Cuban leader, but even the liberal and outspokenly pro-Castro New York congressman Adam Clayton Powell had returned from a March visit to Cuba with alarming tales of a man who slept a couple of hours a night, kept himself awake with high doses of Benzedrine, fell frequently into incoherence when talking, and had, in general, “gone haywire.”


The Fidel Castro who arrived in the United States in April 1959 may have been sleep-deprived and criminally indifferent to his own safety, but he was not noticeably incoherent or haywire. On the contrary, he struck most of those who met him during his eleven-day visit to America as reasonable and amiable, even charming.


Among those who would not get a chance to experience Castro’s charms firsthand was Dwight Eisenhower. The president had excused himself from meeting the Cuban revolutionary by decamping to Augusta, Georgia, to play golf. Eisenhower was not kindly disposed to revolutionaries in the first place; moreover, he was irritated by the circumstances that brought Castro to Washington. Generally, a foreign head of state would not think to visit America without an official invitation from the State Department. Castro had come, instead, by invitation of the American Society of Newspaper Editors (ASNE) to deliver the keynote address at the organization’s annual meeting on April 17. In Castro’s defense (and ASNE’s), he had accepted the invitation before he officially became Cuba’s prime minister. Still, it was an unseemly breach of protocol for him to show up like this, and Eisenhower was not pleased.


As it happened, Castro’s arrival in the United States came on a very difficult day for Eisenhower. That morning, the president had learned in a phone call that his longtime secretary of state, John Foster Dulles, was resigning, effective immediately. For eight years, Dulles had been the ballast, if not the rudder, of Eisenhower’s anti-Communist foreign policy. Now he was in Walter Reed Army Hospital with terminal abdominal cancer. That John Foster Dulles should end his career on the very day Fidel Castro landed in America is one of those coincidences that would seem, like so many others of the next two years, to have been plotted by a roomful of cackling Soviet scriptwriters bunked up in a commune near the Kremlin.


 


THE MORNING AFTER his arrival, Castro awoke in a bedroom in the Cuban embassy on Sixteenth Street and began to practice his English. An aide ran out to buy him a comb and toothbrush. Castro was usually indifferent to personal hygiene, but he was eager to make a good impression on the Americans. He even managed to arrive on time for a luncheon later in the day with Acting Secretary of State Christian Herter. The men chatted cordially, then exchanged toasts. Castro bounced out of the lunch beaming. Herter, cane in hand, emerged sober but impressed. After the lunch, Herter informed President Eisenhower that he found Castro to be “a child in many ways, quite immature regarding problems of government.” A few days later, though, a State Department memorandum described the Cuban prime minister as “a man on his best behavior.”


This was, as far as it went, an accurate appraisal. Before coming to America, Castro had wired a New York City public relations firm to advise him. In addition to urging Castro to smile a lot, the publicists suggested, less astutely, that he shave his beard to adopt a clean-cut appearance. Castro wisely ignored the latter tip. The beard was part of his mystique. People loved the beard. Indeed, popular novelty items in America that spring were fake Castro beards woven from treated dog or fox hair. “When we finish our job,” Castro told one interlocutor, “we will cut off our whiskers.”


The most sensible advice the public relations executives gave Castro seems to have been this: tell them what they want to hear. And what they wanted to hear in the spring of 1959—“they” being government officials, the American press, and the public—was that Fidel Castro was not a Communist.


“What is your connection with communism, if any?” asked Senator Alexander Wiley of Wisconsin when the Cuban visited the U.S. Capitol on Friday morning.


“None,” Castro replied, then went on to repeat variations of the answer for the next hour and a half. Afterward, senators and congressmen pronounced themselves cautiously satisfied. “I feel reassured about a number of matters I’ve been concerned about in Cuba,” said Senator Russell Long of Louisiana. Representative James Fulton, a Republican from Pennsylvania, pronounced Castro an “amigo nuevo.” Even Senator George Smathers of Florida, a persistent critic of Castro, came away impressed. He remained convinced that Castro’s government was “peppered” with Communists, but the prime minister, Smathers acknowledged, appeared to be a “good man.”


Everywhere the question was the same: Are you a Communist, Dr. Castro? Have you ever been a Communist, or do you sympathize with Communists? Everywhere Castro gave the same answer: No, he was not a Communist. Never had been. Never would be.


 


CASTRO’S TRUE IDEOLOGY in April 1959 is, even now, difficult to pin down. Certainly there were Communists around him and close to him, men who had fought alongside him in the Sierra Maestra and now served in his government and army. His brother Raúl and his chief adviser, Ernesto “Che” Guevara, both had strong ties to the Communist Party. Most informed American observers, though, concluded that Castro was telling the truth when he said he was not a Communist. He had never been in the Communist Party, and while he welcomed Communists into his revolution, he welcomed Cubans of other political stripes, too. As for his relationships with Communists in other countries, he had none. His first known contact with any Soviet official, in fact, came during his visit to Washington that April, when he exchanged pleasantries with the Soviet ambassador during a reception at the Cuban embassy.


A more interesting question than when Fidel Castro became a Communist is why Americans were so intent on divining his ideological affiliation. Twenty-first-century Americans may find the obsession with Castro and communism slightly bizarre, if not hysterical. Americans who lived through the darkest days of the Cold War, though, will recall the issue as absolutely essential, even downright existential. The spread of communism was the defining geopolitical concern of the age—the organizing principle on which nearly every act and policy of U.S. foreign relations depended.


There was, in fact, plenty to fear. State-sponsored communism had risen with startling swiftness after the close of the Second World War. Russia and China were in Communist hands and apparently conspiring to spread their creed to every hill and dale on the globe. And there was no shortage of places ripe for cultivation. As European powers pulled out of former colonies, struggling new nations in Africa, Asia, and the Middle East saw in communism an ideology that offered a way out of imperialist shackles. President Eisenhower famously described the spread of communism from nation to nation as a domino effect. A more apt analogy might be germ theory. As each new country succumbed to communism, it would presumably infect its neighbor, which in turn would infect its neighbor, and so on, until the contagion was forcibly checked—or until Communists ruled the world. Communists were not modest about their viral creed. Sooner or later, Khrushchev had infamously warned the West, “We shall bury you.”


Schoolyard taunts were typical of the Soviet premier, but Americans could not easily dismiss them. They had lived through the Second World War and watched Adolph Hitler actively seek world domination. They had every reason to believe that Khrushchev and Mao Tse-tung were seeking it, too—and plenty of evidence the Communists had the tools to succeed. The same year China went Red, 1949, the Soviet Union had exploded an atomic bomb, wiping away in a single detonation America’s monopoly on the most destructive force ever unleashed by humans. Eight years after that, in 1957, the Soviets had leaped ahead in space technology with Sputnik, the first satellite ever launched into orbit. Sputnik was a stunning blow to American morale, but more important than the satellite itself was the rocket the Soviets had used to launch it. If they could make a rocket with enough thrust to carry a 184-pound aluminum sphere to the edge of Earth’s atmosphere, it stood to reason that they could produce rockets capable of delivering nuclear-tipped intercontinental ballistic missiles to the heart of the United States.


Not only did the Soviets lead in missile thrust, they were ahead in missile numbers, too. Or so it was feared. According to conventional wisdom at the time, they owned a significant advantage in intercontinental missiles, as high as three-to-one. The “missile gap” would later be exposed as a canard, but not before it induced many worrisome headlines and sleepless nights. Newsweek put it this way at the start of 1959: “If the intercontinental ballistic missile and the thermonuclear warhead are the ultimate weapons which man has devised for destruction, then the forces of Premier Nikita Khrushchev are unquestionably ahead.” In a blaring rhetorical headline U.S. News & World Report asked, HOW READY IS U.S. FOR WAR? The answer, the magazine informed its readers, was: Not very.


Beyond very real and definable anxieties regarding nuclear obliteration, a vaguer insecurity seemed to grip many Americans of the 1950s. This was reflected in edgy bestsellers such as The Man in the Gray Flannel Suit and The Ugly American, in which American might, for all its obvious fecundity and influence, was portrayed as a tenuous and at some level hollow proposition. Richard Nixon’s so-called kitchen debate with Nikita Khrushchev in the summer of 1959, in which the two men squabbled about the respective merits of their nation’s kitchen appliances, would be hailed as a victory for Nixon’s debating skills and a rousing defense of American prosperity and industry, but in the end Nixon’s argument was strikingly vapid. This was America’s great claim? That it had better dishwashers?


Of course, the larger question was: why, if Americans were so sure of the superiority of their economic system over communism, were they not more confident in its ultimate triumph? “Yours is a great country,” Castro would tell Nixon when they met during his visit to Washington that April. “Your people, therefore, should be proud and confident and happy. But everyplace I go you seem afraid.” Another bestseller in America that spring supported his observation. Titled What We Must Know about Communism, the book was a scarifying survey of the Communists’ growing reach and ambition. “We have written this book because we had to,” the authors Harry and Bonaro Overstreet declared in the book’s introduction. “There comes a point when the world’s peril turns into every individual’s responsibility.”


What all of the fear meant, reasonable or not, was that the specter of a Communist country ninety miles from America was intolerable. The beautiful island nation that America had liberated from Spain and supported economically for decades simply could not be a vassal and beachhead of the international Communist conspiracy. And so the question had to be asked: Dr. Castro, are you a Communist?—and Dr. Castro gave the right answer: No, I am not a Communist.


 


AS IF TO drive home Americans’ fears of nuclear-armed Communists, the afternoon of Castro’s second full day in Washington, April 17, happened to coincide with a peculiar national rite of mid-twentieth-century America known as Operation Alert. The sixth annual drill organized by the Office of Civil and Defense Mobilization, Operation Alert, 1959, was meant to prepare Americans for nuclear attack. The drill postulated a bombardment by a fleet of enemy aircraft (presumably of Soviet origin) that had been spotted flying over northern Canada, heading for the United States. For a few hours that spring day, Americans were supposed to imagine they were under nuclear attack.


The first sign of the mock attack came at 11:30 A.M. in the East—10:30 in Chicago, 8:30 on the West Coast—when television and radio programming was replaced by urgent warnings broadcast on dedicated frequencies. At 12:30 P.M. Central Time, air raid sirens sounded a second warning in Chicago. Moments later, an imaginary ten-megaton hydrogen bomb landed at Sixty-third Street and Kedzie Avenue. According to the drill’s specifications, 229,625 Chicagoans died instantly in the blast zone and another 622,284 were severely injured. Hundreds more make-believe bombs rained over the nation that afternoon. In New York City, where participation in Operation Alert was compulsory, lunchtime traffic came to a halt. Times Square cleared out and became a “sunlit wasteland,” according to the New York Times, as New Yorkers sought shelter in subway stations and stores, restaurants and bars. “People ate and drank and looked at the empty streets from behind plate glass,” the Times reported. IT WAS SO QUIET, wisecracked a New York Daily News headline, YOU COULD HEAR A BOMB DROP.


Washington, D.C., too, was targeted in Operation Alert, but no one there seemed to pay the drill any mind. As the capital went up in imaginary flames outside, Fidel Castro stood at a podium inside the ballroom of the Statler-Hilton Hotel, delivering his keynote address to the American Society of Newspaper Editors. “I have said very clearly that we are not Communists,” he told the audience in full-throated English. “Our revolution is a humanistic one.” Castro gave the editors a litany of reassurances bound to ring pleasantly in American ears. Though he would legally expropriate some privately owned lands, he did not intend to confiscate American property as part of his agrarian reform program, he informed them. Free elections were on the way. As for a free press, not to worry—he cherished it as “the first enemy of dictatorship.” The editors had greeted Castro with tepid claps, but now, as he finished, they applauded enthusiastically.


 


CASTRO WENT ON to enjoy a few more hectic days in Washington. Grinning cheerfully and grappling gamely, if not always successfully, with the English language, he entertained rowdy guests at the Cuban embassy and dashed around town in a siren-blaring motorcade. Everywhere he went he attracted excitement and admiring glances. “He has such kind eyes,” one woman observed of him. “Doesn’t he remind you of a younger Jimmy Stewart?” asked another. He stopped at a school playground to play peekaboo with small children. He signed autographs and lurched irrepressibly toward any friendly mob and its potentially homicidal embrace. On Saturday evening he gave his already agitated security detail the slip and went out for a midnight snack of Chinese food. “Go get me a tent,” an exasperated agent of the State Department’s security force was overheard muttering under his breath. “I got everything else for this circus.”


On a drizzly April 19, following visits to Mount Vernon and the Lincoln and Jefferson memorials, Castro returned to Capitol Hill to meet Richard Nixon. The vice president escorted Castro through the Capitol, quiet on this Sunday afternoon, to his office. For two and a half hours, Castro and Nixon spoke. The meeting was private, but six days later Nixon sent a classified memorandum about it to the president and several other members of the administration. This memorandum remains the best record of the meeting and a curious, possibly seminal, document in the history of the Bay of Pigs.


According to Nixon’s memo, Castro arrived at the Capitol “somewhat nervous and tense,” concerned he had performed poorly on Meet the Press earlier in the day. After reassuring his guest he’d done just fine, Nixon lost no time in lecturing Castro about the value of free elections, habeas corpus, and other fine points of democracy. “I frankly doubt that I made too much impression upon him but he did listen and appeared to be somewhat receptive,” wrote Nixon. The conversation turned, inevitably, to communism. Nixon had a long record as a Communist-buster, going back to his attacks on Alger Hiss in the 1940s, and was just the man to shake the red off a young rebel. As Nixon harangued Castro about the dangers of communism, Castro grew irritated—“This man has spent the whole time scolding me,” he later told an aide—but remained polite, if not quite solicitous.


The Nixon-Castro meeting is intriguing not only for what transpired but also for Nixon’s depiction of it later. In his 1962 book Six Crises, Nixon would describe his encounter with Castro as the turning point in his view of the Cuban leader. Quoting the memo he sent to Eisenhower, Nixon wrote that he “stated flatly that I was convinced Castro was ‘either incredibly naïve about Communism or under Communist discipline’ and that we would have to treat him and deal with him accordingly—under no further illusions.…” Nixon claimed that he at once became the administration’s chief advocate for overturning Castro.


Actually, Nixon’s original memorandum, which became public only twenty years after he wrote it, belies his own description of the document. Although Nixon did state in his memo that Castro was either “naïve” or “under Communist discipline,” he also added that “my guess is the former” and that, overall, his impression was “somewhat mixed.” Not exactly warm praise, but hardly a decisive call to arms. Richard Nixon apparently shared the ambivalence held by most of official Washington toward Fidel Castro in April 1959. The only thing he knew for sure was that Castro possessed “those indefinable qualities which make him a leader of men” and that “we have no choice but at least to try to orient him in the right direction.”


 


New York, April 1959


ON MONDAY, APRIL 20, Castro boarded a private rail car at Washington’s Union Station and entrained up the eastern seaboard to Princeton, New Jersey, where he stopped to address a seminar of mostly adoring Princeton University students. The following morning, Castro’s caravan sped down Route 206 to the Lawrenceville School, one of the nation’s oldest and most prestigious boarding academies. Wearing a long, dark trench coat over his fatigues and clenching a cigar between his teeth, Castro entered the school’s stone chapel to address six hundred boys in jackets and ties. The political philosophy of Fidel Castro was probably not on the curriculum most of the boys’ parents envisioned when they sent their sons to Lawrenceville; nor was this ivy-clad chapel a natural habitat for the rebel of the Sierra Maestra. But the boys greeted Castro with “thunderous applause,” according to the school newspaper, and Castro, for his part, said nothing to offend. “I feel something sad of not knowing well the English to express my emotion,” he told the boys apologetically. “I cannot speak long here for two reasons. One, because the train is waiting and I have a large program and here in the United States somebody have taught me to be punctual. Second, because my English this morning didn’t woke up very clear.”


It was in New York City that Fidel Castro took his circus to the zoo. The chaos began the moment he stepped out onto the concourse level of Pennsylvania Station on the afternoon of April 21. Twenty thousand screaming well-wishers packed the train station and spilled for blocks onto Seventh Avenue. A scrum of police tried to usher Castro quickly through the crowd, but he was not to be denied. “I must see the people!” he called out, breaking through the security perimeter to clutch hands and return embraces. It took half an hour to maneuver him through the crowd to his hotel, the Statler, directly across Seventh Avenue.


The next four days passed in a whirl of press conferences and lectures, of meetings and interviews, Castro beaming through most of it like a man on his second honeymoon. He visited Columbia University, toured City Hall, rode to the top of the Empire State Building, and shook hands with Jackie Robinson. Wherever he went he was besieged by photographers and reporters. Life even caught him in his hotel one morning, tousled from sleep and wearing striped pajamas.


There were private moments, too. One of these occurred behind closed doors at the Statler, where Castro was interviewed by a CIA agent. The interview had been arranged by Castro’s minister of finance, Rufo López-Fresquet, a politically moderate economist who hoped to prove that his boss was no Communist. “We shall bestow on him the fictitious name of ‘Mr. Frank Bender,’” López-Fresquet later wrote of the CIA agent who came to visit Castro. The name was a giveaway. Frank Bender was the alias of a German-born CIA veteran named Gerry Droller. One American official had described Droller to López-Fresquet as “the highest authority of American intelligence on the Communists in Latin America.” This rather overstated the case. Droller did work on the Latin America desk of the CIA, but an “authority” he was not. For one thing, he spoke no Spanish. His own colleagues at the CIA tended to dismiss him as a know-it-all who blew a lot of smoke—literally. He had a passion for cigars that rivaled Castro’s.


Maybe it was the cigars that got to Droller’s head. In any case, he came out of the three-hour meeting in a state of near intoxication. “Castro is not only not a Communist,” he exclaimed to López-Fresquet, “but he is a strong anti-Communist fighter.”


A year later, Gerry Droller, alias Frank Bender, would be working with a task force at the CIA to remove Fidel Castro from power and, if possible, eliminate him from the face of the Earth.


 


AMONG THE IRONIES attending Castro’s 1959 trip to America were the great lengths to which U.S. federal security agents and local police went to keep him alive. No visitor to America had ever received such lavish protection. Few had ever disdained it so cavalierly. What had been true in Washington was doubly so in New York. From the moment Castro arrived late Tuesday morning, he was surrounded by concentric rings of federal agents, plainclothesmen, and uniformed police officers, all of whom he treated with a mix of bemusement and benign neglect. “The hell of it is you never know when, where or how he’s going,” a police officer told the New York Post. “He just decides every once in a while to go for a walk and talk to people.”


The police stepped up their already extraordinary measures as the week progressed and threats on Castro’s life proliferated. The most picturesque of the reported plots against him had five brothers traveling from Chicago in a black and white 1957 Chevrolet with Florida license plates. 5 HUNTED IN CASTRO DEATH PLOT, the Post blared on its front page on Thursday, April 23. The brothers were presumably seeking vengeance on behalf of organized crime. Plenty of people wanted Castro dead for political reasons, but for the mob it was strictly business: one of Castro’s first acts as Cuba’s leader had been to shut down the mob-run Havana casinos.


The five brothers were soon tracked to Philadelphia, where it turned out they were engaged not in a Castro death plot but in honest labor. No sooner was this threat resolved, however, than a new one surfaced: now two men were speeding east from Detroit in a “dirty gray” Cadillac with Michigan plates. As Port Authority police kept a close watch on incoming lanes of bridges and tunnels, enterprising journalists tracked down Meyer Lansky in Florida. The infamous mobster and former dean of the Havana mob was living in financial ruin, thanks largely to Castro. Lansky refused to speak to reporters, but his wife took the phone. “It’s a lie,” she said of a mob plot. “It’s so ridiculous there is no answer.” Another mobster with Havana ties, Joe “Doc” Stracher, was reached in Las Vegas. “What plot? I’ve got nothing to discuss,” said Stracher. “Forget about it.”


The drama came to a head on Friday, April 24. Castro was scheduled to give a speech in Central Park that evening, by far his largest venue yet. Police urged him to call it off in the interest of self-preservation and public safety, but Castro refused. Before the speech, Castro relaxed with an impromptu visit to the Bronx Zoo. As he and his entourage sauntered around the zoo, passing astonished mothers and gaping children, Castro seemed to enjoy himself immensely. He fed potatoes and carrots to the elephants. He offered sugar to a gorilla. He ate a hot dog and rode on a miniature electric railroad. And then, to the dismay of everyone present—especially those charged with keeping him alive—he leaped over a protective railing and reached his fingers through the cage to pat a Bengal tiger on the cheek. “This is like prison,” said Castro, sympathizing with the tiger. “I have been to prison, too.”


 


CASTRO WAS STILL at the zoo when crowds began to gather in Central Park. By four-thirty, the area in front of the band shell was thronged. At six, police began to muster. The NYPD brought in nearly a thousand officers, including dozens on horseback. Lookouts were posted on Central Park West rooftops to watch for snipers. Powerful searchlights scanned the trees and “flickered over the scene like heat lightning,” according to the New York Times, “turning the leaves pale violet and brilliant green and the trunks of the trees a luminous white.”


Castro arrived at eight-thirty behind a motorcycle escort, stepping onto the band shell stage to cheers and shouts of “Viva Castro!” He addressed the crowd in Spanish for two hours under a fair night sky. Occasionally, a roving searchlight flashed over him and he shaded his eyes with a hand. He spoke of Cuba’s aspirations and praised the United States for its understanding. Whatever hard feelings he’d had for his neighbor to the north seemed to have softened. As he had put it in English in a speech earlier that day to the National Press Club, he would return to Cuba with a “stronger faith” in the bond of friendship.


He was still speaking when a scuffle broke out behind the band shell. Two policemen had come upon a young man lurking on the slope back there. When they searched his belongings they found a bomb manufactured from a footlong section of a vacuum cleaner handle, filled with a mixture of sulfur and zinc. The young man told the police that he had come to the park “looking for excitement.” Castro, unaware of the commotion behind him, went on talking for another fifteen minutes.


He left the city the next morning, just as he had arrived, by train and surrounded by thousands of people. “Thank God that’s over,” exhaled a cop as the train pulled away. The police were happy to see him go, but few could deny the visit had been a success. “He made it quite clear that neither he nor anyone of importance in his Government so far as he knew was Communist,” concluded an editorial in the New York Times. “By the same token it seems obvious that Americans feel better about Castro than they did before.”


Within months, the U.S. government, having just spent millions of dollars and employed thousands of men to protect Fidel Castro from harm, would be taking the first steps to remove him from power by whatever means necessary.
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“Point of No Return”



Summer–Autumn 1959
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Washington, D.C., July 1959


“DO YOU HAVE information respecting Communist infiltration in the Castro government?”


“Yes, sir.”


“Is the Castro government infiltrated by Communists?”


“Yes, sir.”


It was the middle of July, a warm and humid day in the swelter of a Washington summer. Major Pedro Díaz Lanz, the thirty-two-year-old former commander of Fidel Castro’s air force, sat before a microphone in a U.S. Senate conference room, politely answering questions in halting English. Major Díaz Lanz had commenced his long journey to Washington in late June, fleeing Cuba in a small sailboat and washing up in Miami a few days later. Immediately summoned to Capitol Hill to appear before the Senate’s subcommittee on internal security, he first testified in closed hearings, then, on July 14, in an open hearing. He told the senators hair-raising tales of Communist infiltration at the highest ranks of the Cuban military. Officials in the Castro regime were now affectionately calling one another “Comrade.” The word “God” had been stricken from the Cuban constitution. Just three months had passed since Castro’s visit to America, but already the senators’ worst fears were apparently being realized inside Cuba.


The trouble had begun almost the moment Castro returned home from his trip to North America. On May 17, Cuba launched a sweeping program of agrarian reform that limited most landholders to fewer than a thousand acres and curtailed ownership by foreigners. None of the new measures were especially radical or surprising: Castro had been talking about such reform for years. Moreover, most Latin American experts, including some in the U.S. government, agreed that some type of land redistribution was necessary in Cuba if democracy was to take root. Still, many Americans greeted Castro’s move as an ominous step on the road to socialism. Particularly anxious were American owners of sugar mills and cattle ranches in Cuba, some of these as large as half a million acres. Castro’s government promised compensation in the form of long-term bonds, but landholders worried—correctly, it turned out—that Castro would expropriate their property without compensation. Then Díaz Lanz arrived in Washington to confirm the worst.


“Since Castro took over in Cuba are changes being made in the insignia on military equipment in Cuba?” asked J. G. Sourwine, counsel for the Senate subcommittee.


“Yes,” responded the major.


“What changes?”


“A red star put on vehicles.”


“A red star painted on military vehicles?”


“Yes.”


“Do you know what those red stars mean?”


“It is a Communist insignia, sir.”


A few days after Major Díaz Lanz’s appearance in Washington, his charges were seemingly validated by a shake-up in Cuba’s government. The country’s figurehead president, Manuel Urrutia, had gone on Cuban television apparently intending to blast Díaz Lanz for his treasonous testimony. But before the interview was done, Urrutia was committing an impeachable offense of his own, admitting that Communists were, in fact, doing “irreparable harm” inside Cuba. Castro immediately began taking steps to throw Urrutia out of office. “I am not Communist, and neither is the revolutionary movement,” Castro insisted. “But we do not have to say we are anti-Communists, just to curry favor with foreign governments.” Castro replaced Urrutia with Osvaldo Dorticós, a known Communist sympathizer.


 


ONE OF THE puzzles of Fidel Castro’s behavior during 1959 is why, after winning himself a store of American goodwill that spring, he seemed so determined to squander it that summer. Did he suffer a sudden change of heart? Had more radical members of his inner circle, notably Che Guevara and Raúl Castro, chided him for being too friendly to his American hosts and pushed him leftward upon his return to Cuba? Had he simply been bluffing when he said he wanted good relations with the United States and forswore communism?


Fidel himself favored the last version, at least in hindsight. He claimed that he had been a “convinced Marxist-Leninist” for a decade or so before his visit to the United States, and implied that he strategically made nice in April to gain time to lay the groundwork for his programs without U.S. interference—in other words, that it was all part of a premeditated master plan. The American ambassador to Cuba at the time, Philip Bonsal, for one, did not buy that. “Castro has delighted his followers by picturing himself as the crafty deceiver of people who deserve to be deceived,” Bonsal later wrote. He tended to rewrite history to make himself appear more in command of his destiny than he really was. “He is not a thinker or a planner; such plotting as he does is in the narrow field of personalities,” observed Bonsal. “He is rather the vehicle of a mysterious force that drives him on to his goal of personal power.”


Despite his own retrospective claims, the truth appears to be that Fidel Castro was still in his protean pre-Communist phase when he came to America and was telling the truth when he denied Communist ties. His feelings for America were still inchoate, too. On the one hand, he seems to have genuinely wanted Americans to like him and took pleasure in their adulation. On the other hand, he harbored volumes of ill will toward the behemoth to the north.


Castro’s conflicted feelings about the United States reflected those of his compatriots. While the two countries had a long and, in some respects, mutually beneficial history, the relationship was fraught with paternalistic expectations on the part of the Americans and simmering grievances on the part of the Cubans. These dated back to the Platt Amendment, a 1903 act of Congress guaranteeing the United States certain powers and rights over Cuba as a condition for withdrawing American troops after the Spanish-American War of 1898. The Platt Amendment had been rescinded in 1934, but few Cubans forgot it. Nor could they forget the continued presence of Guantánamo Bay Naval Base, an American holding at the eastern end of Cuba, another legacy of the Spanish-American War. The fact that Americans had for years controlled the country’s economy added to an impression of U.S. hegemony. Eighty percent of Cuban utilities, including the telephone company and the electric company, were owned by Americans prior to Castro, so every rate hike or service outage was a Yankee affront. Forty percent of the sugar industry was American-owned, and the United States accounted for the lion’s share of the sugar market. This meant that Cuba lived by what the United States was willing to pay for sugar. No matter that the United States paid better than the international market price; the dependency rankled Cuban pride.


Adding insult to injury, some Americans treated Cuba as if it existed to satisfy their lowest cravings. Sweet rum drinks, teenage prostitutes, live sex shows, and gambling at the mob-run casinos in Havana were all on the menu in the 1950s for visiting Americans (who included, on at least one occasion, a young U.S. senator named John F. Kennedy). Cubans had admittedly benefited from American tourist dollars, but the Cuban who gained the most was Fulgencio Batista. This went to the real sin of America from the Cubans’ point of view: its historical tendency to back and enrich corrupt dictators such as Batista or, before him, Gerardo Machado and Ramón Grau. Such men had made life miserable for average Cubans with their reigns of graft and terror. Batista himself had pocketed as much as $300 million at the same time that tens of thousands of his countrymen starved. Ruthless and shameless, Batista was America’s man in Havana, and his sins became, in some measure, America’s.


As Castro voiced his fellow Cubans’ resentment toward the United States, he also came increasingly to appreciate its value to him. Those deep veins of rancor, properly mined, could yield political gold. The more successfully he could paint America as the enemy of Cuba, the easier to explain away the fact that the Cuban economy was failing, or that his government was unstable, or that he had more aptitude for making anti-American speeches than he did for actual governance. The American government, for its own reasons—fear of communism mainly, but also petulance and domestic politics—played right into his script, taking the part of Goliath against his David. The more vocally he accused America of acting the part of a bullying imperialist, the more America behaved like a bullying imperialist. In return, the more the Eisenhower administration fretted that Castro was leading Cuba into communism, the closer to communism he crept.


Might the Eisenhower administration have short-circuited the vicious cycle? Or did Eisenhower, in fact, accelerate it? The question of “Who Lost Cuba?” was to be debated ad nauseam in the press over the next several years, with conservatives such as William F. Buckley Jr. of the National Review blaming liberals who had been taken in by Castro’s deceptions (notably Herbert Matthews of the New York Times) as liberals chastised the Eisenhower administration for driving Castro into the arms of the Soviets.


Rufo López-Fresquet, the politically moderate finance minister who had traveled to America with Castro in April, took up the question in his memoir My Fourteen Months with Castro, written after he turned against Castro in 1960. In the long run, wrote López-Fresquet, productive relations between the U.S. government and Fidel Castro were never in the cards: “Nothing the U.S. could have done, not the highest degree of cooperation, understanding, or sympathy, could have caused Castro to remain a friend.” Nonetheless, López-Fresquet pointed to several opportunities missed early in Castro’s regime by the Eisenhower administration to court moderate elements of Cuban society—those Cubans who were happy to see Batista gone but not happy to see Cuba falling into Communist hands. “The policy of the U.S. should have been directed toward denying Castro the chance to present Americans as enemies of social, political, and economic progress in Cuba,” wrote López-Fresquet. Referring back to Castro’s 1959 visit to the United States, he singled out the “diplomatic discourtesy” Eisenhower had shown by refusing to meet Castro; a mere matter of protocol, perhaps, but one that alienated some of the same Cuban moderates the United States should have been courting. And it would have been useful if the United States had also taken the opportunity of Castro’s visit to offer economic aid to Cuba, despite the fact that Castro conspicuously failed to ask for it. “If this had been done, Castro could not have later claimed that the U.S. did not wish to help the revolution.”


In general, U.S. actions either pushed moderates to the left or left them out in the cold. The United States insisted Cuba immediately pay up, in cash, for example, for any American-owned lands expropriated in land reform measures, a demand both unrealistic and niggling, according to López-Fresquet, since everyone knew Cuba did not have the assets to do this. Worse was letting Major Díaz Lanz testify in front of Congress. This reeked of old-fashioned American high-handedness—“a direct interference in the domestic affairs of Cuba by an organ of the United States government” is how the American ambassador, Philip Bonsal, later characterized the Cuban perspective.


 


AS ANGER AND suspicion volleyed across the Florida Straits that summer, it fell to Ambassador Bonsal to play monkey in the middle. A dapper fifty-six-year-old Foreign Service veteran, Bonsal was in many ways a perfect fit for the assignment. Cuba was practically in his blood. His father, Stephen Bonsal, a newspaper correspondent for the New York Herald, had reported from the island during the Spanish-American War. Philip had grown up hearing stories of Cuban revolutionaries at the dinner table. Later, as a young man, Bonsal lived in Cuba for a time, first working in business for an American corporation, then returning on his first assignment for the State Department. He knew the island’s history, and he understood how that history weighed on its relationship with the United States.


Bonsal also possessed the even-keeled, elastic temperament necessary for negotiating with Fidel Castro’s government. While reasonably skeptical of Castro’s intentions, he was willing to engage revolutionary ideals in a way that his conservative predecessor, Earl Smith, had never done. On the rainy February night he’d arrived in Havana to assume his assignment, Bonsal told a bearded emissary of Castro’s regime that he admired the revolutionaries’ bravery in overthrowing Batista. The comment was widely and favorably reported in the Cuban press. A few weeks later, when Bonsal sat down with Castro in person to discuss U.S.-Cuban relations, the good feelings appeared to be mutual. “I was encouraged to believe that we could establish a working relationship that would be advantageous to both our countries,” he later wrote of the meeting.


Operating from his office in the six-story U.S. embassy near the Havana waterfront that summer, Bonsal pressed American concerns on Castro, at the same time reminding his colleagues in the State Department that while there were indeed Communists within the Castro government, there also remained many fervent anti-Communists. “I strongly recommend that for the present we continue policy of friendliness toward Castro and GOC [Government of Cuba],” he cabled to the State Department on July 7. “In many respects,” he added on August 2, “it is the most hopeful regime Cuba has ever had.”


If Castro was aware of Bonsal’s efforts to defend him, he was in no hurry to express his gratitude. He let the summer pass without granting the American ambassador a single face-to-face meeting. Interestingly, one of Bonsal’s more helpful contacts in Castro’s government was Foreign Minister Raúl Roa. By the time the Bay of Pigs invasion occurred two years later, Roa would have evolved into an attack dog for Castro, but in this earlier incarnation Roa was an anti-Communist moderate who hoped to span the gulf between the United States and Cuba almost as fervently as Bonsal did. On the evening of September 3, 1959, Roa finally prevailed on Castro to meet Bonsal. Dining at Roa’s Havana apartment, the three spoke for six hours, until 2:00 A.M. The Castro who showed up that evening was much the same man who had visited the United States in the spring—friendly, reasonable, almost contrite. Bonsal went back to the American embassy buoyed by renewed hopes for relations between the countries. “Castro’s first reaction to my statement was that I was unduly pessimistic about [the] state [of] our relations,” Bonsal cabled his State Department bosses the following morning. “Castro regrets some of his own statements against US government.… He stated that he likes and admires Americans, especially tourists for whom he is planning great things.”


 


Havana, October 1959


CASTRO MAY NOT have meant everything he said to Bonsal over dinner, but he was plenty serious about attracting American tourists to Cuba. Six weeks after his dinner with Bonsal, he hosted his first major tourism convention, having convinced the American Society of Travel Agents (ASTA) to hold its annual meeting in Havana. He would show them the wonders of Cuba, and they, in turn, would generate dollars for the Cuban economy. Two thousand travel agents descended upon Havana that October. Ideally, the convention would be an occasion to find common ground between Cuban and American interests—to remind Americans of the charms of Cuba and to remind Cubans of the beneficence of Americans. But that is not how it turned out.


The crisis began on October 19, the opening day of the convention. That morning, at the starkly modern twenty-five-story Havana Hilton, Castro welcomed the travel agents to Cuba. He spoke enchantingly of his ambitious plans to open new beaches, build new roads and hotels, to make the Pearl of the Antilles “the best and most important tourist center in the world.” Ambassador Bonsal, present in the audience at the Hilton, later recalled that Castro “appeared in the sunniest of moods, exuding cordiality toward his American guests and most eager to stimulate tourist traffic from the United States.”


In retrospect, it seems likely that Castro was already stoked for an eruption by two developments that had occurred in the days preceding the convention. The first of these was his discovery, in mid-October, that the U.S. State Department had been interfering with his attempt to buy military jets from Great Britain. The Eisenhower administration had asked Britain to halt the sale, and Britain had complied. The press got hold of the story after a State Department official leaked it. When Castro found out, he was indignant.


The second development did not make the newspapers. This concerned a visit to Havana that October by a forty-six-year-old Russian who went by the name of Alexander Alexeyev. Though Alexeyev presented himself in public as a reporter for the Soviet news agency Tass, he was, in fact, a KGB officer representing the Soviet government on a “special mission” to Cuba. With his arrival in Havana in early October, and his late-night meeting with Castro in the wee hours of October 16, came the first significant contact between the government of Fidel Castro and the government of Nikita Khrushchev. Castro, already feeling vengeful toward America, was emboldened by the interest the Soviets took in him and his little country.


Castro’s demeanor changed from hospitable to hostile on the afternoon of October 19. The proximate mood-changer was apparently a letter from Huber Matos, a high-ranking and much-heralded soldier who had fought with him in the revolution. Matos now served Castro as the military governor of Camaguey, a province in central Cuba. For weeks, Matos had been complaining privately about the growing presence of Communists in Cuba, especially in the army, which was under the command of Raúl Castro. In his letter, Matos told Castro that he was resigning his post so as not to become an “obstacle” to the revolution. Then, bravely, rashly, he admonished Castro for allowing Communists to flourish. “Now, Fidel, you are destroying your own work,” wrote Matos. “You are burying the revolution.”


In fact, by these words, Matos effectively buried himself. Two days later, on the morning of October 21, he was sitting with his wife in their home in Camaguey when a knock came at the door. The man on the other side was Camilo Cienfuegos, an old friend and fellow hero of the revolution. Chief of the Revolutionary Army, Cienfuegos had come to arrest him. Matos was flown to Havana at once to stand trial for treason.* News of his arrest spread alarm among both American officials and moderate Cubans. Castro may have had personal reasons for arresting Matos—he never took kindly to having his judgment questioned—but he was also, for the first time, explicitly equating anticommunism with treason.


Later that same Wednesday, in the evening, Fidel Castro was chatting with a group of travel agents on the lawn behind the Hotel Nacional, with clear views of the sea and the Havana skyline, when a World War II–era B-25 bomber suddenly appeared over the water, flying in low from the north. As Castro and the agents watched, the plane’s bomb chute opened and out poured a blizzard of leaflets, fluttering down over the streets of Havana. People ran to grab the leaflets. A strongly worded condemnation of Fidel Castro and his brother Raúl, the leaflets were signed by Pedro Díaz Lanz—the same Pedro Díaz Lanz, formerly of the Cuban Air Force, who had testified before the Senate subcommittee in July, the same one who was now piloting the B-25 over Havana.


For half an hour, the B-25 passed over Havana before Díaz Lanz was finally driven off by antiaircraft fire. By the time the plane left, two Cubans were dead and dozens injured. The casualties were probably inflicted by shells of Castro’s own batteries, but Castro insisted they were caused by “bombings” from the plane. Díaz Lanz’s air drop was not just an act of propaganda. It was, charged Castro, an act of war.


Castro was outraged—or at least pretended to be. First came an impassioned four-hour televised speech on the night of October 22, lasting until 3:00 A.M. the next morning. A mass rally followed on October 26. After dramatically descending in a helicopter over a crowd of several hundred thousand people, Castro, gripping a rifle in one hand, mounted a platform in front of the Presidential Palace and launched into the most anti-American speech he had ever delivered. He compared the leaflet drop to Pearl Harbor—not the last time he would use the comparison—and insinuated that the United States was behind it, if not explicitly then at least complicitly. After all, the United States had knowingly permitted the plane to take off from its shores. “We give them a naval base here in our country and they give us war criminal bases with which to bombard us.” As Castro spoke, Cubans armed with placards and machetes marched on the U.S. embassy and the Havana Hilton, where travel agents were beating a hasty exit from the suddenly combustible city. Safe to say that none would be signing up clients for getaway packages to Cuba anytime soon.


The U.S. government—and Philip Bonsal, from inside the besieged embassy—tried to assure Castro that America had nothing to do with Díaz Lanz’s flight. There were two hundred airfields in the state of Florida alone; how could the United States be responsible for every private plane that took off from these? Castro responded with his own rhetorical question: How could a nation that expected to protect itself from incoming Soviet missiles lack the wherewithal to patrol planes leaving its own shores?


By this point, discourse had dissolved into absurdity. Neither party was genuinely interested in understanding the other. Even Bonsal, for months the keeper of the common ground, knew the chance for reconciliation was lost. “Castro’s performance of October 26,” Bonsal later wrote, “spelled the end of my hope for rational relations between Cuba and the United States.” Those late October days were, as the historian Theodore Draper would put it, the “real point of no return.”


The realization was dismaying. And yet among the lessons of that October was the kernel of a solution to the problem of Fidel Castro. Not a pretty solution, to be sure, but a means, a method, that would allow America to return reason to Cuba and free that island from the clutches of Communists. As Major Díaz Lanz had demonstrated with his swashbuckling leaflet drop, there were Cuban exiles from Castro’s regime, many residing in Florida, who despised communism, who pined for their old country, and who were ready and willing to risk their necks to oust Fidel. Some, like Díaz Lanz, had even been trained in the military as soldiers and pilots. It was so obvious, really. They were an army in waiting.








PART II



A PROGRAM OF COVERT ACTION


November 3, 1959–January 19, 1961
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“It’s a Secret”



November 1959–March 1960
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Langley, Virginia, November 3, 1959


ON THE BRIGHT, crisp morning of November 3, 1959, President Eisenhower set out by limousine from the White House to the Virginia suburbs of the capital. His first stop after crossing the Potomac River was a boilerplate ribbon cutting to mark the opening of a new spur of the George Washington Memorial Parkway. Eisenhower made a few cursory remarks, cut the ribbon, and dipped back into his limousine. The motorcade then continued along the very stretch of empty parkway Eisenhower had just officially opened to traffic. The hills of Fairfax County blazed with the last patches of autumn color. Through the trees along the parkway the president could glimpse the blue green surface of the Potomac River where it swept fast and wide between the suburbs of Maryland and Virginia. Eisenhower was enjoying the culmination of one of his better years in office. His health, after a series of maladies in years past, had been robust. The American economy was healthy, too, and the president’s popularity was higher in Gallup polls than it had been in years. But if Eisenhower had reason to feel content that autumn morning at the end of 1959, he nonetheless could hear the fly buzzing near the ointment. Its name was Fidel.


Castro had been in power ten months now, but Eisenhower was still not sure what to make of him. At a press conference on Wednesday morning, October 28, two days after Castro’s inflammatory speech at the mass rally in Havana, Eisenhower had responded to a reporter’s question about the Cuban leader—“What do you suppose, sir, is eating him?”—with bafflement, if not a touch of obtuseness. “[H]ere is a country that you would believe, on the basis of our history, would be one of our real friends,” the president told the press corps, apparently unaware that anti-American sentiments had been simmering in Cuba for decades. “The whole history—first of our intervention in 1898, our making and helping set up Cuban independence … the trade concessions we have made and the very close relationships that have existed most of the time with them—would seem to make it a puzzling matter to figure out just exactly why the Cubans and the Cuban government would be so unhappy.”


If Eisenhower did not understand the attitude of the Cubans regarding America, he was starting to clarify his own intentions regarding Fidel Castro. His patience had worn thin. Eisenhower was not a rash man, but he was not a waffler, either. He had been making weighty decisions for the better part of his adult life—decisions, as in his planning for the D-Day invasion of France in 1944, on which the very fate of Western civilization hung—and once he’d set his mind, he tended not to look back. Within days of Castro’s eruption in Havana, and just ten months after Castro’s victory over Batista, Eisenhower started to make decisions that would lead to the secret American operation to remove the Cuban leader from power.


The first of these decisions had come on October 31, when the president provisionally approved a draft of a new State Department policy on Cuba. “The Current Basic United States Policy Toward Cuba,” as it was titled, marked a clear reorientation of the administration’s approach to Castro. Drawn up by Roy Rubottom, the assistant secretary of state who had welcomed Castro at National Airport back in April, the new policy defined the United States’ objective to “encourage and coalesce opposition to the Castro regime’s present form” while avoiding “giving the impression of direct pressure or intervention.” The general idea, Rubottom later explained, was “to support elements in Cuba opposed to the Castro Government while making Castro’s downfall seem to be the result of his own mistakes.” Articulating the policy was the job of the State Department. Putting it into practice, though, would be a job for the Central Intelligence Agency.
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